PAGE  

[image: image1.jpg]) SIC PERMANET

| _rocus | 4
Ontario

VT INCEPIT

2\




ONTARIO

ENERGY

BOARD

	FILE NO.:
	EB‑2007‑0016


	

	VOLUME:

DATE:


	Technical Conference 
April 20, 2007


	


EB-2007-0016

THE ONTARIO ENERGY BOARD

IN THE MATTER OF the Ontario Energy Board Act, 1998, S.O.1998, c.15, Schedule B;

AND IN THE MATTER OF a motion by Erie Thames Powerlines Corporation requesting the Board to review and vary certain aspects of Decision and Order RP-2005-0020/EB-2005-0361/EB-2006-0197, dated January 2, 2007.
Held at 2300 Yonge Street, 25th Floor, 

Toronto, Ontario, on Friday,

April 20, 2007, commencing at 9:02 a.m.
---------

Technical Conference
---------

A P P E A R A N C E S

MICHAEL MILLAR

Board Counsel

LENORE DOUGAN

Board Staff

MARTIN DAVIES

Board Staff

DARIA BABAIE


Board Staff

SCOTT STOLL


Erie Thames Powerlines Corp.

JAY SHEPHERD


Schools Energy Coalition

I N D E X   O F   P R O C E E D I N G S

Description







Page No.

Upon commencing at 9:02 a.m.




1

Appearances







1

ERIE THAMES POWERLINES CORP. - Panel 1


2

C. White; G. Pettit; R. Martindale; J. Skeoch


Questioned by Mr. Stoll




4


Questioned by Mr. Millar




7

Questioned by Mr. Shepherd



24

Recess taken at 10:22 a.m.




52

Upon resuming at 10:37 a.m.




52


Further questioning by Mr. Shepherd

52

Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 11:03 a.m.
64
E X H I B I T S

Description







Page No.

EXHIBIT KT1:  ERIE THAMES POWERLINES CORPORATION

10

2006 EDR TIMELINES

U N D E R T A K I N G S

Description







Page No.

UNDERTAKING JT1:  TO PROVIDE 2005 AND 2006 AUDITED 
54

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR ERIE THAMES POWERLINES
UNDERTAKING JT2:  TO PROVIDE COMPENSATION FOR

59

DIRECTORS, EXTENDING TO 2005 AND 2006

UNDERTAKING JT3:  TO PROVIDE A 2007 UPDATE TO

59

SCHEDULE B


Friday, April 20, 2007 


--- Upon commencing at 9:02 a.m.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  I think we're on the air.  Just let me start by -- first, this is the Technical Conference for EB‑2007‑0016, a motion to review a Board decision by Erie Thames Powerlines Corporation.


Before we start, I think most of us are familiar with the technical aspects of our newish system, but I will remind especially the witnesses.  When you are speaking, your green light should be on, on the panel in front of you.  The way to turn it on is to simply press the light itself.


There is about a half-second delay after you press it, so just wait and it should come on.


When you are not speaking, your light should be off, because the mikes are quite sensitive and they will pick up things that you probably don't want everyone in the room to hear.


Maybe we will start with appearances.  My name is Michael Millar.  I am counsel for Board Staff.  With me are Daria Babaie, Martin Davies and Lenore Dougan.


APPEARANCES:

MR. SHEPHERD:  Jay Shepherd, School Energy Coalition.


MR. STOLL:  Scott Stoll, counsel to Erie Thames.


MR. SKEOCH:  John Skeoch, CFO.


MR. WHITE:  Chris White, VP and general manager of Erie Thames Powerlines.


MR. PETTIT:  Graig Pettit, financial analyst, Erie Thames Services.


MR. MARTINDALE:  Ron Martindale, Davis Martindale LLP, auditor of Erie Thames.


MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Stoll, I assume these four gentlemen are the witnesses for today's proceeding?


MR. STOLL:  That's correct.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay, thank you.


MR. STOLL:  Just maybe it would be helpful if each of them just describe what their role is.


MR. MILLAR:  Sure.  In fact, why don't I ‑‑ I have a relatively short series of questions to go through, but if you want to introduce your panel, that's --


ERIE THAMES POWERLINES - PANEL 1


Chris White; 


Graig Pettit;


Ron Martindale;


John Skeoch

MR. STOLL:  You can just start and just explain a little bit about your role, and very briefly.


MR. WHITE:  Again, my name is Chris White.  My primary role is managing the LDC assets for Erie Thames Powerlines.  I also manage the capital and maintenance expenditures for the year and manage the MSA agreement between the Powerlines and our service affiliate.


MR. STOLL:  Next?


MR. PETTIT:  My name is Graig Pettit.  I am a financial analyst.  I work in the accounting department.  I do a large portion of Erie Thames Powerlines' regulatory work, in terms of regulatory accounting, as well as rate applications and assistance in any other applications with the Board.


MR. MARTINDALE:  Ron Martindale, auditor of Erie Thames Power Corporation; Erie Thames Powerlines Corporation accountant; external accountant for ‑‑


MR. MILLAR:  Yes, I'm sorry -- the buttons are linked, so you may accidentally turn off your friend's button.


MR. MARTINDALE:  Ron Martindale, external auditor of Erie Thames Power Corporation, Erie Thames Powerlines Corporation and accountant of the other subsidiaries in the Erie Thames group of companies.


MR. MILLAR:  So, Mr. Stoll, I was planning just to go right into the questions, unless you...


MR. STOLL:  There are maybe one or two things that I thought Mr. Martindale could help us out with, just as far as some of the issues around the notice to reader statements.  And maybe if I could just get him to just talk a little bit about some of the audit statements versus the notice to reader statement just so we have an understanding of the process and the effect.


MR. MILLAR:  I don't think I object to that.  Would you prefer to do these in the hearing itself before the Board on next Friday, or...


MR. SHEPHERD:  Let's do it that way.


MR. STOLL:  I think if we can do it now just so that if there are any questions or any issues that come out of it --


MR. MILLAR:  Please go ahead.


QUESTIONED BY MR. STOLL:

MR. STOLL:  Can you just elaborate on the review process and the notice to reader statements and how those are prepared, and the significance of those or the differences between those and the audited statements.


MR. MARTINDALE:  Sure.  I think the best way to describe the processes that were undertaken is to start with what a notice to reader indeed is.  Essentially, a notice to reader is a document that external accountants will -- external accountants will put on management-prepared financial  statements.  


In this case, the notice to reader was prepared -- was used by the external accountant to prepare tax returns, and that's appropriate if you look at Powerlines in an isolated case.  If you step back a little bit and broaden the scope, we prepared an audit of the Erie Thames Power Corporation, the holding company, the parent of Erie Thames Powerlines.  


And it is best to really talk about what is involved in an audit at that level to give you an idea of how it reflects down below on the notice to reader.


Any time one prepares an audit, there are really three parties to that.  There is management, who prepares the financial statements, and they try to prepare useful financial statements; you have the auditor, and the auditor's role is to comment on those financial statements; and you have the user, and the user is assumed to be a knowledgeable user and by that -- we tend to identify that as a person who has reasonable knowledge in business, in economic activity and in accounting.  The user is also assumed to have a willingness to study the information that is provided to them.


So how do we prepare that audit?  Well, we follow what's considered to be generally accepted auditing standards.  We have to plan and perform our audit to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence.  


How do you do that?  Well, we consider something called materiality.  Materiality considers items such as the users, who is going to use the financial statements, going to deal with and consider what the risk areas in those financial statements.  We consider the client knowledge and we also consider dollar value, and the dollar value -- because an audit does not test every transaction.  An audit tests on a sample basis the transactions and the balances presented in the financial statement.


We're looking for a number that we believe would change somebody's comments or decisions upon reading those financial statements.


And we do that in conjunction with the audit committee, and we have done that with -- Davis Martindale has done that with the audit committee, consisting of a subset of the board of directors of Erie Thames Power Corporation.


When we go through and we look at the financial statements, we are essentially looking for four major areas.  We're looking for the completeness of the information.  We are looking for the existence.  We're looking for valuation, and we're looking for authorization.


I think the best way to describe that is to give you an example.  If you considered capital asset additions, property plant and equipment, based on our materiality we would decide how many of the addition transactions we would like to test for that particular audit period.  


And when you look at -- if you combined Erie Thames Power, the holding company, and Powerlines, its subsidiary, and we're doing an audit of the combined or the consolidated financial statements, we would look at the population of capital asset additions, and based on the materiality that has been selected, we would test a number of transactions.


So if you thought of a million dollars' worth of capital asset additions and a particular materiality said we would test ten of them in that entire population, if seven of them happened to be in Powerlines and three of them happened to be in Power Co., if you isolated yourself into the Powerlines itself, we would still test -- if we used the same materiality on an audit of Powerlines, we would still test those same seven transactions.


So what I'm saying is when you audit the consolidated financial statements, you are auditing at the materiality level of the consolidated all of the transactions from the holding company and the subsidiaries beneath the holding company.


You may wonder why I would not, then, put an audited financial statement on the subsidiary.  And the reason for that is, when we audit consolidated financial statements, the transactions in between the parent and the subsidiary are not audited.


If you drew a bubble or a circle around a company, when you audit that particular company, you're auditing the transactions in and out of that company.


Consider the bubble to go around the companies in the Erie Thames group, so the holding company and the subsidiary.  Put a bubble all the way around that.  When I do an audit of the consolidated, I'm only looking at the transactions that go in and outside of that bubble.


So I haven't and did not do the work on the intercompany transactions between the Powerlines subsidiary and its parent and, therefore, I was not able to and should not put an auditor's report on the subsidiary corporation.  


MR. STOLL:  That’s all I have.  That provides some  sort of guidance on what was going on and the level of information earlier on in the process.


QUESTIONED BY MR. MILLAR:


MR. MILLAR:  Thank you, Mr. Stoll.  I will just ask one quick follow-up.  I think I understood what you were saying, but am I right when I say that an audit of the parent company is not the same as an audit of the subsidiary?  


MR. MARTINDALE:  You were right in the context that an audit of the subsidiary is not an audit of the parent company, but it's not fair to say when one reads a statement it is knowledgeable about the group of companies, that there has been no work done on the subsidiary company.  


MR. MILLAR:  That's fair enough.  I think I heard your response there, but I also heard you to say that you weren't able, for example, to file an audit of the subsidiary on its own.  


MR. MARTINDALE:  I was not asked at the time.  I have subsequently provided audited financial statements of the subsidiary company and there were no changes.  


MR. MILLAR:  I understand that, but to make sure I'm entirely clear, the audit that was filed for the parent company is not a stand-alone audit of the subsidiary?  


MR. MARTINDALE:  That is correct.  


MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.  Mr. Stoll, you had nothing more?  


MR. STOLL:  No, not at this time, no.  


MR. MILLAR:  I will move into my prepared questions.  


I don't have an awful lot.  I don't think the factual matters are all that much dispute in this file, so I am just going to run through a few things.  I suspect there will probably be a lot of agreement with what I'm saying and hopefully it won't take too long.  


Let me start with questions that may actually be for Mr. Stoll.  I will ask them of the witnesses, but they're kind of legal questions.  


I am just going to confirm the grounds for the motion.  You may wish to turn up the prefiled motion record of the applicant.  I am looking at -- I guess it is under tab A, the revised Notice of Motion of the Applicant.   


MR. STOLL:  I have it.  


MR. MILLAR:  All I wish to do is I'm just going to kind of read through this and confirm these are the grounds for the motion.  Starting on page 2, demands for the motion are listed as A, a change in circumstances -- this is pursuant to Rule 44.01(a)(ii) of the Board's Rules of Practice and Procedure.  


The final decision effectively transforms an interim order into a final order without the knowledge of ETPC; you can confirm that, Mr. Stoll? 


MR. STOLL:  That's the wording in the motion, yes.  


MR. MILLAR:  And that's the -- 


MR. STOLL:  That's the grounds? 


MR. MILLAR:  That's the grounds, okay.  


Two is a change in circumstances which seems to me to be related to (a), but it relates to the introduction of a new issue, and that is what's being called a retroactivity issue.  Is that correct, Mr. Stoll? 


MR. STOLL:  That's correct. 


MR. MILLAR:  (c) is an error in fact, and I won't read through this whole thing because I think Board Staff doesn't think there is a problem with this kind of a motion.  I don't think we dispute that so I don't plan to ask any questions about that, but just to make sure I referenced it, (c) is there on the record.  Finally, (d) is a dramatic reduction in the revenues of ETPC is a hold to recover despite the recognition of the validity of its costs and expenditures which thereby results in rates that are not just and reasonable, which is contrary to section 78.3 of the Act.  Is that correct?


MR. STOLL:  That's correct. 


MR. MILLAR:  Those are the grounds for this motion?  


MR. STOLL:  That's correct.  


MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.  I would like to move into the chronology of events, which it seems we both prepared chronologies in advance and they seem to be virtually identical, so I don't think we will have any problems here.  


Mr. Stoll, you handed out a sheet beforehand.  Perhaps I will mark this as an exhibit for ease of reference.  


MR. STOLL:  That's fine.  


MR. MILLAR:  And I guess we will call this -- K is for exhibits, T for technical conference.  KT1.  


EXHIBIT NO. KT1:  ERIE THAMES POWERLINES CORPORATION 


2006 EDR TIMELINES


MR. STOLL:  That's fine. 


MR. MILLAR:  This is the Erie Thames Powerlines Corporation 2006 EDR timelines.  I have a separate sheet that we prepared, but I think they're largely the same so I will go through this, and if you disagree with what I say you can let me know.  


I guess we will start at the beginning.  September 6th Erie Thames originally filed its 2006 EDR application.  Is that correct?  Maybe I will leave it to the --


MR. STOLL:  Leave it to the witnesses as much as possible. 


MR. PETTIT:  That's correct. 


MR. MILLAR:  September 13th, I have the Board issued an acknowledgement letter deeming the application to be incomplete.  Is that correct?


MR. PETTIT:  That's correct. 


MR. MILLAR:  October 12 Erie Thames refiled its 2006 EDR application. 


MR. PETTIT:  Correct. 


MR. MILLAR:  And on October 21st, the Board issued an acknowledgement letter deeming the application incomplete.  Is that correct?  


MR. PETTIT:  Yes, it is. 


MR. MILLAR:  And on October 28th, Erie Thames refiled its 2006 EDR application?  


MR. PETTIT:  My records also show October 25th. 


MR. MILLAR:  I'm sorry, there may be -– 


MS. DOUGAN:   We have a stamp date of October 26th, so the Board actually received it.  


MR. MILLAR:  There may be a slight difference between the date it was sent and the date it was received.  I think we're within a couple of days here so I am not going to fuss the discrepancy there, if that's okay with you. On November 2nd the Board issued an acknowledgement letter accepting the am complication as being complete.  Is that correct?  


MR. PETTIT:  Yes, it is. 


MR. MILLAR:  On November 3rd, the Board issued a Letter of Direction, Notice of Application?


MR. PETTIT:  Correct.  


MR. MILLAR:  November 13th, the Board issued Procedural Order No. 1.  I see that in yours it is -–


MS. DOUGAN:  That was an extension.  The procedural order that they're referring to here, January 13th was an extension to the original procedural order. 


MR. STOLL:  For the interrogatories, yes.  Because there was a problem with interrogatories, they granted an extension.  So our Procedural Order No. 1 is the one that is specific to Erie Thames and maybe not the procedural order that is in the more generic 2006 rate process.  


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Again I have a few dates in here that aren’t on your list.  I don’t know if much turns on it, but I’ll read through them to see if you agree, in any event.  I have November 16th, Erie Thames filing an affidavit declaring publication of its notice of application?


MR. PETTIT:  I have the 15th, but essentially correct. 


MR. MILLAR:  Close enough.  On December 9th I have the Board issuing Procedural Order No. 3.  


MR. PETTIT:  Pardon?  What was the date of that again? 


MR. MILLAR:  I have December 9th.  Yes, this was a generic Procedural Order No. 3.  Quite frankly, I have some dates in here that aren't terribly material.  I have written everything down.  


Maybe I will ask you and you can accept it subject to check.  Quite frankly I don't think anything turns on it.  


MR. PETTIT:  If it's generic, I only included Erie Thames specific in my timelines. 


MR. MILLAR:  Okay, thank you for that.  On December 22nd, 2005, Schools filed its interrogatories.  Does that sound right?  


MR. PETTIT:  I believe so, yes.  I didn't include Schools on this. 


MR. MILLAR:  January 11th, Board Staff filed its interrogatories?  


MR. PETTIT:  Correct.  


MR. MILLAR:  On January 27th, Erie Thames filed responses to the Board Staff's interrogatories.  


MR. PETTIT:  Correct.  


MR. MILLAR:  On the 31st I have you responding to Schools' interrogatories.  


MR. PETTIT:  Correct.  


MR. MILLAR:  On February 14th, 2006, Schools filed its final argument.  


MR. PETTIT:  Correct.  


MR. MILLAR:  On April 5th, Erie Thames filed its reply argument.  


MR. PETTIT:  I believe that is correct.  


MR. MILLAR:  On April 12th the Board issued a decision directing Erie Thames to obtain and file audited financial statements with the Board within 90 days of the date of the decision and order, and then resubmit the application for 2006 distribution rates within 120 days of the date and decision and order.  Is that correct?  


MR. PETTIT:  That's correct. 


MR. MILLAR:  And I should add it also asks that you provide details of affiliate transactions.  


MR. PETTIT:  That's correct.  


MR. MILLAR:  On April 28th, the Board issued interim rates for Erie Thames, which essentially extended its existing 2005 approved rates.  I think there might have been a Smart Meter money or something like that. 


MR. PETTIT:  Yes.  I believe that was -- did that have to do with the original order?  They mixed it with kilowatt or kilowatt hours.   There was a second interim set of rates that came out? 


MR. STOLL:  There is a minor correction right around the beginning of May.


MR. PETTIT:  For the GS less than 50 or -- anyone billed by kilowatts, the original decision on April 12th with the interim rates had kilowatt‑hours instead of kilowatts.


MR. MILLAR:  Oh, I see.  Okay.


MR. PETTIT:  We notified Board Staff.


MR. MILLAR:  That's fine.


So if we move along, on July 6th Erie Thames filed audited financial statements with the Board, and these would be statements for the utility?


MR. PETTIT:  Correct.


MR. MILLAR:  On August 14th, the utility resubmitted its 2006 EDR application?


MR. PETTIT:  That is incorrect.  August 11th.


MR. MILLAR:  August 11th.


MR. PETTIT:  And actually received at the Board on August 11th.  I have Purolator confirmation.


MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.  On August 25th, the Board issued an acknowledgement letter deeming the application incomplete; is that correct?


MR. PETTIT:  Correct.


MR. MILLAR:  On September 16th, Erie Thames refiled the application?


MR. PETTIT:  I have September 8th.  I would like to...


MS. DOUGAN:  We have a stamp date of the 16th.


MR. MILLAR:  Apparently we have a stamp date of the 16th.


MS. DOUGAN:  Well, 15th, 16th.


MR. MILLAR:  I actually see the letter is dated September 8th and it looks actually like we have it dated September 15th.  In any event, I take it -- do you have ‑‑ what do you think the date is?


MR. PETTIT:  I am not sure.  Somewhere in my Purolator records, I'm not sure I have them with me today, but when I filled this out, I went off Purolator records so I believe it to be September 8th.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So September 8th --


MR. PETTIT:  That may be Purolator, it was shipped on September 8th.  I got confirmations on August 11th of receipt.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay, thank you.  So October 10th, the Board issued an acknowledgement letter accepting the application as being complete?


MR. PETTIT:  Correct.


MR. MILLAR:  And I believe that letter stated it expected to render a decision by March 12th, 2007; is that correct?


MR. PETTIT:  I ‑-


MR. MILLAR:  Would you take that subject to check?  I think all of these letters are on the record.


MR. PETTIT:  I would take that subject to check.


MR. MILLAR:  That's why I'm not reading through all of the material.  I don't think there is any dispute that these are on the record.


MR. PETTIT:  Okay.


MR. MILLAR:  On October 10th, the same date, the Board issued a letter of direction and notice of application?


MR. PETTIT:  Correct.


MR. MILLAR:  On the 16th, Erie Thames filed an affidavit declaring publication of its notice of application?


MR. PETTIT:  Correct.


MR. MILLAR:  On the 27th, I believe there was a fresh Procedural Order No. 1?


MR. PETTIT:  Correct.


MR. MILLAR:  On the 7th of November 2006, yes, Board Staff and Schools both filed interrogatories?


MR. PETTIT:  That's correct.


MR. MILLAR:  On the 20th of November, Erie Thames filed responses to Board Staff and Schools' IRs?


MR. PETTIT:  Correct.


MR. MILLAR:  And on January 2nd, the Board issued its final Decision and Order?


MR. PETTIT:  Correct.


MR. MILLAR:  It sounds like aside from a couple of days here and there, we're largely in agreement on the chronology.  Thank you for that.


I would like to clear up one matter that we had some offline discussions about beforehand, but I think just for the clarity of the record, it would be useful to review this.


If I could ask you in the motion record to turn to tab 4 -- pardon me, tab C4.  It is a two‑page document, and a discrepancy that was noticed by Board Staff or an apparent discrepancy that I think has been cleared up, but I would like to have it on the record.


If you look at page 2 of 2, you will see a spreadsheet entitled "Erie Thames Powerlines Lost Revenue Support".  If you move across the top to the variable portion, you have a column for interim and for approved, and then a column for the difference; is that correct?


MR. PETTIT:  Yes, it is.


MR. MILLAR:  And if you turn back to the rate schedule, I think you can find that at tab 1.  There is a couple of tab 1s, I think, but it's at the back of the interim rate order.  Tab B1, thank you, Mr. Stoll.


At the back of that document, there are interim tariffs of rates and charges effective May 1st, 2006.  Do you see that?


MR. PETTIT:  Correct, yes.


MR. MILLAR:  We had noticed that the numbers in the chart at tab C, schedule 4, at least at first glance, for the variable portion of the rate did not seem to exactly match what is found in the interim tariff of rates and charges.  Could you please explain why there is a discrepancy there or an apparent discrepancy?


MR. PETTIT:  The fact that the interim order was based on the 2005 rate order or rates, essentially, that volumetric rate had embedded in it for the 2005 rate year an amount for regulatory asset recovery.


So I removed that to be consistent with distribution revenue only.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  And that accounts for any change?


MR. PETTIT:  Correct.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay, thank you.


I would like to ask a couple of questions about what Erie Thames plans to do if it gets the relief it's seeking.  Just to confirm, the amount the utility is seeking to recover through this process, at least with regards to what we're calling the retroactivity issue, is $1.382 million; is that correct?


MR. WHITE:  Correct.


MR. MILLAR:  And I believe, and I don't have it in front of me, but the Notice of Motion asked the Board to direct Erie Thames to work with Staff to come up with an implementation plan, I guess, on how this money would be recovered if you are successful; is that correct?


MR. WHITE:  Correct.


MR. MILLAR:  Has Erie Thames given any thought to how ‑‑ it's a fairly significant number, I think you would agree, compared with the overall revenue requirement.  Has Erie Thames given any thought to possible implementation strategies?


MR. WHITE:  Yes, we have had some discussions on that and we would like to mitigate the risk to the customer.


MR. MILLAR:  Do you have a specific proposal?


MR. WHITE:  I think that's subject to the amount ordered.


MR. STOLL:  Basically I think it goes back to the idea that once the quantum was established, then we could be able to understand the potential impact that it would have on customers.


So if you ‑‑ if the Board was willing to grant full recovery, then I think a period of six months would be an acceptable impact on the ratepayer.


If the ‑‑ however, if the Board was not willing to go down that route as far as the amount of recovery, that may alter the time frame.  But I think essentially the idea is that we would like full recovery in a manner that is fair to the customer and fair to the utility.  


Probably the easiest way is through a rate rider type mechanism.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So if I hear you correctly, your proposal ‑‑ maybe it's not set in stone yet, but the proposal would be recovery by way of a rate rider, and then I guess depending on the total amount awarded, that would be an input into over what period of time you recover?


MR. STOLL:  Correct.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.


MR. STOLL:  Then I guess we would have to establish if there is any accounting orders technically required to implement.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So I guess you're saying it is premature to determine exactly how it would be recovered right now.  You would want to wait and see how much was recovered?


MR. STOLL:  Exactly.


MR. MILLAR:  Assuming you got the entire amount you're seeking, the close to 1.4 million, have you given any thought to how ‑‑ and if it was done by way of a rate rider, have you given any thought to what period of time you would like to spread that over?


MR. WHITE:  We have looked as a two-year horizon.


MR. MILLAR:  We have done some quick calculations here, and if you do it over two years, at least in our calculation, you get a bill impact of approximately -- a total bill impact of approximately 2.63 percent.  Subject to check, does that sound about right to you?


MR. WHITE:  Correct.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay, thank you.


Okay, I'm almost finished.  I have one final question or one final series of questions.  This relates to I guess what we're calling the retroactivity issue.


If I understand the grounds for motion, and we went over them quickly earlier today, it's that the Board did not give Erie Thames an opportunity to make submissions, I guess, about what happens in the -- if I could call it the bridge period; that's probably not the correct technical term, but the term during which interim rates were in effect before the final rate order came out.  


MR. STOLL:  I guess that is part of it.  Because we were in an interim period, the interim order creates a certain expectation that the difference between the final rate, and the interim existing rate will be recovered when the final rate order is made.  


There may be a timing issue created by when the final order actually gets made, but provided that the costs were appropriate, or the costs included in the application to determine the revenue requirement were substantiated, the interim order created an expectation that those costs would be recovered.  


I don't know if it is just a question of having an opportunity to address it, or -- I think it goes beyond that.  


MR. MILLAR:  How does it go beyond that?  


MR. STOLL:  I think it goes beyond that because the question is, does retroactivity, when an interim order -- even really come into play?  And if there was an intent on the Board's part that the interim order would really set rates as of the time the interim order was given or that there was a risk to the utility, there should have been a clear statement that the utility was at risk on that revenue requirement.  


I don't know that that is necessarily going to be just a retroactivity issue, a just and reasonable rates issue as well.  I guess part of it goes to, it is unclear from the Board's decision, or slightly unclear, whether they are drawing a distinction between -- they're saying we made a final decision and we used our discretion to set just and reasonable rates.  Or we don't set rates retroactively, and therefore you get the rates you get.  


The response from us is slightly different, but it gets you to the same point, in that we are entitled to recover our costs that are incurred in the delivery of distribution services.  And any order that falls short of that does not result in just and reasonable rates.  


MR. MILLAR:  Obviously there is a danger -- we're going to deal with this in argument.  We don't want to go too far down this road. 


MR. STOLL:  Exactly. 


MR. MILLAR:  Let me see if I am characterizing you correctly.  I guess it was Erie Thames' assumption that the final rate order would be applied retrospectively back to May 1st.  Is that fair to say?  


MR. STOLL:  Yes.  It would at that take into account the interim order being in place and adjust for that.    


MR. MILLAR:  So the assumption was that the final order would be dragged back, if I can put it that way, to May 1st?
 


MR. STOLL:  Yes.  I guess it becomes a question of how it gets implemented.  Did Erie Thames expect it would be able to send out a lump sum bill to recover?  No, that wasn't the expectation.  


The expectation was that there be some recognition of the revenue shortfall and that would be recognized in the final order, to basically recapture that shortfall.  


MR. MILLAR:  So one way or another, that money would be recovered. 


MR. STOLL:  Exactly. 


MR. MILLAR:  Whether a lump sum or spread out over a period of time?  


MR. STOLL:  Yes.  


MR. MILLAR:  What was the basis of that assumption?  


MR. STOLL:  The fact that the order was interim.  If the order had been made final in April, then Erie Thames would have been put on notice that this is a final rate order.  So to the extent that you need to do more to get new rates in place, you had better get moving.  


Because it was an interim order, there was no notice that they had to accelerate the timeline.  


If they had been aware that every day the clock was ticking on their revenue shortfall, I'm certain that they would have encouraged Mr. Martindale to speed up his audit, although given the nature of the timing of it that might have been difficult.  I'm sure they would have been on the phone to the OEB every day after the interrogatories were filed, to say, Do we have a decision yet?  Do we have a decision yet?  


MR. MILLAR:  Now, was the fact that the interim rates were set at the old rates rather than the proposed rates – i.e., the higher rates, the rates that were ultimately approved - did that give the utility any cause for concern that maybe they wouldn't as a right recover the money in the period between May 1st and January 1st?  


MR. STOLL:  Not that I am aware of.  Because it was an interim order, there was no indication that there would be a denial of their costs that are captured in the rate model.  


MR. MILLAR:  Thank you, gentlemen.  Those are my questions.  


MR. STOLL:  I understand Mr. Shepherd has some questions.  


MR. SHEPHERD:  Indeed, if I can get this working.  


QUESTIONED BY MR. SHEPHERD: 


MR. SHEPHERD:  There we go.  Let me just follow up on that.  I must admit I didn't understand this from your Notice of Motion.  


Are you saying the Board didn't have a discretion in this subsequent decision to order less than the amount that it determined was the appropriate distribution expenses?  That because of the interim rates, the Board was prevented from doing what it did?  


MR. STOLL:  Well, in a cost of service regime, if you set the revenue requirement and then you deviate from the revenue requirement that you deem is appropriate, in your implementation, I don't know how you're getting to a just and reasonable rate scheme.  


So to the extent you're saying the underlying costs are appropriate, which was in your question, I would say that limits the Board's discretion, and the Board’s discretion is always limited by the just and reasonable rates at the end of the day, right?  The rate order must be just and reasonable.  


MR. SHEPHERD:  Understood.  


MR. STOLL:  Okay. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  I am just trying to understand the grounds of your review application.  The ground is once they set interim rates as of May 1st, that later decision, they weren't allowed to have it effective any other date but May 1st?  


MR. STOLL:  I don't want to get involved in -- they have to account for the impact since May 1st in their final order.  Then the rates have to be just and reasonable.   


MR. SHEPHERD:  This amount, what is it a million three or something?  


MR. STOLL:  Correct. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  The Board doesn't have the discretion to say you can't recover that?  


MR. STOLL:  Once they find that the underlying costs were reasonable, right.  


It creates a timing issue, though.  


MR. SHEPHERD:  Just following along that.  Another question, I'm actually going to ask it of your witnesses, I think, because it is probably more appropriate.  Mr. Stoll has suggested if you had known of the urgency, you would have filed faster.  You would have got the information to the Board faster; that is correct?  


MR. WHITE:  Correct.  


MR. SHEPHERD:  Then let me just ask one other thing about this.  


Your argument, Mr. Stoll, in your materials, is that once the Board decides that the original decision wasn't correct, it's back to square one, right?  That is to say, it isn't making an assessment how close to being correct that old decision was.  If it was wrong, in any way, then the Board has to look anew at the question of what the rates should be for the period.  Is that right?  


MR. STOLL:  I'm not quite sure I understand your question.  If the final rate order that was issued, or the final rate determines, if those rates ended up almost identical, so that there was a dollar revenue requirement difference, I would think there would be a materiality. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  Forget de minimus, okay.  


MR. STOLL:  Okay.  But when you are going through the interim process into the final process, the final order has to account for the impact of having the -- 


MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry, that wasn't my question.  In your submissions you've said the Board, now, on this review order, review motion, has to make a first decision:   Was the last decision, the one that is being reviewed, was it correct?


MR. STOLL:  The final decision.


MR. SHEPHERD:  That's right.  Was it correct?  If it was not correct ‑‑ subject to de minimus, if it was not correct in any way, then this Board then has to look anew at what the rates should have been for that period?


MR. STOLL:  No.  I'm not saying that, because I'm not saying they have to go behind all of the underlying costs.  There is no dispute about what the model showed as the revenue requirement, other than the bad debt expense.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, no, there is a dispute about what the just and reasonable rates are.


MR. STOLL:  Right.  But your question went to what the final order said and what's opening up.  And if you're suggesting that we're going to open up every expense and relook at every expense and every line item, that's not what I'm suggesting in my motion.  


I'm suggesting that the revenue requirement that was found by the model and stated by the Board is set.  The implementation of the rates does not allow you to collect that revenue requirement, but we're not going backwards to open up everything and say, Well, we get another crack at looking at whether the vehicle expenses or anything ‑‑ or the tier one adjustments were correct, or not.  That's not the purpose of this motion.


MR. SHEPHERD:  No, I understand, but this is what the legal result of the motion is.  What I understand you to be saying is that the Board in this review motion can decide that the last decision was correct on one thing, but incorrect on another thing?


MR. STOLL:  Well, that's kind of the idea of a review and vary motion, is that aspects of the decision may be correct and aspects may be incorrect.


MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  I suspect you are going to object to a bunch of my questions, but we will try and see.


Let me start with Mr. Martindale.


When you did your audit of ETPC, the parent company ‑‑ actually, let me just stop for a second.  Let me just understand this correctly.


You've got Erie Thames Power Corporation as the parent company, right, Mr. White?


MR. WHITE:  Power Corporation.


MR. SHEPHERD:  That's the parent company, right?  It owns Erie Thames Powerlines and Erie Thames Services?


MR. WHITE:  Correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  That's 100 percent ownership, right?


MR. WHITE:  Correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  The debt of Erie Thames Powerlines is from Erie Thames Power Corporation or directly from the municipalities, or both?


MR. SKEOCH:  The debt is from the municipalities.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So the shareholding goes through the holding company, but the debt goes directly to Powerlines?


MR. SKEOCH:  Correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And the holding company, does it have another business besides holding the two operating companies?


MR. SKEOCH:  No.  It holds land and buildings, but it is a holding company.


MR. SHEPHERD:  It holds land and buildings for Powerlines?


MR. SKEOCH:  And Services.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And it also employs the employees that work in Powerlines?


MR. SKEOCH:  Just the corporate executives.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So Powerlines has its own employees for everything else?


MR. SKEOCH:  Powerlines has two employees.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So the executives are in Power Corporation and everybody else is in Erie Thames Services, except for the two employees in Powerlines?


MR. SKEOCH:  Correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So then with that background, Mr. Martindale, when you did the audit of Erie Thames Power Corporation, what was the dollar value of your materiality?


MR. MARTINDALE:  The dollar value of materiality changed over the time period, but it was in the neighbourhood of 200 to $225,000.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And did you have different values of materiality for assets and for income statement?


MR. MARTINDALE:  For the ‑‑ I don't have my notes in front of me, but my memory tells me that 2002 had a difference between the two, and 2003 forward had the same.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  You did the audit for 2005 and 2006 as well, right?


MR. MARTINDALE:  That is correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  When you did the audit for Erie Thames Powerlines, what was your materiality threshold for that?


MR. MARTINDALE:  For the time period under review, it was the same.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, given that Powerlines doesn't own some of its assets and doesn't have much in the way of employees, I assume that the only material transactions you would have would be major capital acquisitions and intercompanies, right?


MR. MARTINDALE:  Well, you do have the billings, which I believe would be considered material.  So the revenue coming in is included in that material, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  Now, you said you identified, what, seven material transactions in ‑‑


MR. MARTINDALE:  No.  I was giving a hypothetical just for illustrative purposes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay, I should pay more attention.  But you did do an analysis of what were the material transactions in Powerlines, right?


MR. MARTINDALE:  At what stage?


MR. SHEPHERD:  During the audit.


MR. MARTINDALE:  No, no, but I have conducted -- I don't mean to be difficult, but we did an audit of both entities at different time periods.  So you're referring to which time and which audit?  I'm...


MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry, why would they be different?  If the materiality level was the same and if you're auditing the same year, then it would be the same transactions that would be material, wouldn't it?


MR. MARTINDALE:  I just didn't understand that was your question.  If that is indeed your question, I would agree with you.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So you did a list of what those were, right?  One of the material things ‑‑


MR. MARTINDALE:  We would have investigated the transactions and tested a sample of them, yes.  To say that I identified each as a list, I don't think I could produce that working paper as a specific individual piece of paper, but, yes, we tested the material transactions.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So I am going to ask you to file a list of what the material transactions were.  Pick a year.  2004 is fine.  Okay?


MR. STOLL:  Yes.  I'm not sure ‑‑ why is it relevant here and why --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, what I am going to get to is the audit is not very useful, because what we will find is that unless there was a full review of the intercompany transactions, we don't know whether, in fact, the transfer pricing was reasonable.  I'm going to get to that in a second.


MR. STOLL:  I think we can shorten it.  If that's where you're going, I don't think it is really relevant.  We have answered the questions regarding the master service agreement and the benefit to the utilities and the ratepayers in the evidence already, and it is on the record.


So to the extent that that is on the record, I think that question is asked and answered.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So whether this was material and is on his list of material transactions is -- you're saying that that is a refusal?


MR. STOLL:  I don't understand what you're asking for, one.  Are you asking him which transactions he audited?


MR. SHEPHERD:  An auditor is required when they do an audit to identify what transactions or categories of transactions - in some cases like revenue - must be audited because they're material.


MR. STOLL:  Right.  And he just gave you ‑‑


MR. SHEPHERD:  That's part of the audit.


MR. STOLL:  He gave you the threshold which he used.


MR. SHEPHERD:  That's fine.  So it's a small number of items.  It's not going to be large, because this company isn't complicated.  It is very simple.


So I think it is probably three or four items.  I would like to see the list.  I mean, if you want to make it a refusal, go ahead.


MR. STOLL:  I will take it under advisement and I will let you know.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I think, Mr. Stoll, you are required to either agree or not agree.


MR. STOLL:  Okay.  Well, I will disagree.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So it's a refusal.


Now, Mr. Martindale, did you do an audit of the intercompany transactions between the Powerlines and Services?


MR. MARTINDALE:  When we conducted the audit of Erie Thames Powerlines Corporation, the subsidiary corporation, we audited the intercompany transactions for Powerlines to the other entities for existence, valuation, authorization and completeness.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Good.  So part of that is valuation.  What steps did you take to ensure that the valuation of those transactions was correct?


MR. MARTINDALE:  We were required to confirm that the exchange amount of the transactions was in agreement with documents set out by the company.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  That's not valuation.  That's compliance with the agreements.


MR. MARTINDALE:  No.  It is confirmation that the transaction occurred at the value that the contract specified that they ‑‑ or the agreement that they would occur at.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So you did no independent review of whether the transfer pricing was appropriate?


MR. MARTINDALE:  That's not within my scope of the audit.  


MR. SHEPHERD:  Am I right that the only real difference between what you did with respect to Powerlines in the first audit, when you were auditing the parent, and the second time around, was the intercompany transactions?  


MR. MARTINDALE:  That is the significant difference, yes.  


MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, when you do a consolidated audit, correct me if I'm wrong, but as I understand it, one step in that process is you do -- there's a name for it.  I can't remember the name for it, but it is basically a chart; it is a working paper that is a chart of accounts which splits up the companies.  


So you have each category, and in your case, three companies side by side so that then you can look at how you consolidate each line, right?  


MR. MARTINDALE:  At one time when we did it on paper, and that's a good illustration of how it's done.  But essentially what you're getting at is, you would eliminate - it's called elimination entries - the intercompany transactions, that's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  You of course do that electronically now, but you still produce the same document. 


MR. MARTINDALE:  Not in the format you're speaking to, but the theory is correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Can you provide us with that breakdown for, let’s say, 2004? 


MR. MARTINDALE:  At some point in time, yes, but I don't have it with me today. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  No, no.  


MR. MARTINDALE:  I'm not sure if that's...


MR. STOLL:  I'm having some difficulty, going back to the audit for the consolidated and what relevance it has with this motion.  


MR. SHEPHERD:  I am going to look at the audit of the consolidated and compare it to the audit of Powerlines and I am going to ask questions about why they're different.  


MR. MARTINDALE:  Sorry, could you repeat that? 


MR. SHEPHERD:  I am going to look at the deconsolidated chart, the eliminations chart, right - that is the name I was trying to remember - and I am going to compare that to the audited financials of Powerlines, and look for discrepancies.  There will be some.  Then I am going to ask you about them.  


MR. STOLL:  Well, the audited statements for both entities are on file.  So to the extent that that information already exists, you have it.  


MR. SHEPHERD:  There is a document that I don't have that Mr. Martindale has said he can provide, and I am asking for it.  


MR. STOLL:  But I'm trying to understand what the real relevance is because you are looking at things that are not within the regulated utility; correct?  


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, no.  The regulated utility spends most of its money paying its affiliates, and therefore the Board's rules say that we get to look at the affiliates as well. 


MR. STOLL:  You get to look at the affiliate transactions -- 


MR. SHEPHERD:  No, no, sorry. 


MR. STOLL:  -- you don't get to look at all of the other businesses the affiliates do. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry, that is not what the Board's rules are.  You should look at the Enbridge 2006 decision which makes very clear that Enbridge fought this for years and lost.   


MR. STOLL:  So every transaction that the parent company does with every third party, is subject to Board review?  Is that what you're saying?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Only if it could be relevant to the utility, of course.  But the financial statements of the parent and the financial statements of any affiliate that has material relationships with the regulated utilities must be filed.  That's what the Board decided in 2005-00 -- 


MR. STOLL:  When it requested them, yes. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  Hmm?  


MR. STOLL:  When it requested them.  


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.  I am requesting them. 


MR. STOLL:  You're not the Board either.  


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay, so...


MR. STOLL:  Look, maybe we can shorten this out, if we can take a break for a couple of minutes -- 


MR. SHEPHERD:  Hmm-hmm. 


MR. STOLL:  -- because I didn't know you were going to be asking these questions.  I don't know if there's a problem in getting the information, how long it is going to take.  I haven't talked to my clients about this or been able to instruct them.  


MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  Let me explain and maybe this is the easiest way to deal with it.  


As you saw in our interrogatories earlier, one of the things that concerns us is we have a utility which is a high-price utility relative to other utilities.


MR. STOLL:  For your rate class. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry? 


MR. STOLL:  For your rate class that you are concerned with, maybe. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  That's what we're concerned with.


MR. STOLL:  You made a sweeping statement, right, about – you're saying it is a high-price utility.  


MR. SHEPHERD:  And ask for a large rate increase; and does not have cost base pricing with its affiliates; and set prices based on pre-amalgamation costs, where there should be economies of scale.  So we're concerned that there are overpayments to the affiliates.  


You understand why we're concerned. 


MR. STOLL:  I understand your concern.  


MR. SHEPHERD:  And that is something we're entitled to explore.  If you're saying rates are not just and reasonable, we're entitled to say -- 


MR. STOLL:  I'm saying this motion doesn't open that portion up again.  You're going back to the two interrogatory processes you had and seeking to open up those questions again.  I'm saying that is not part and parcel of the motion.  If you want to take that up with the Board you are welcome to, but it is not within the scope of the motion. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  You are going to refuse to answer questions on affiliate transactions?  


MR. STOLL:  Yes.  


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  I am going to put them on the record, and then we will have to argue about them.  


MR. STOLL:  Certainly.  


MR. SHEPHERD:  So note that's a refusal to file the deconsolidated -- or the eliminations chart.  


Let me, then, ask about something else.  In 2003 -- and I don't know who would answer this, but whoever -- in 2003 you spent quite a bit of money on a new asset management system, right?  


MR. WHITE:  2003?  


MR. SHEPHERD:  That's what it says.  


MR. STOLL:  Can you take him to the...


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, this is the biggest purchase you've had in a few years.  Do I have to given you a reference?  


MR. STOLL:  Well, if you want to take us to the evidence, it would be helpful, yes. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  IT assets increased over 10 percent.  If you're going to be difficult here it this is going to be take a long time. 


MR. STOLL:  I'm not trying to be difficult. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  You know what I'm talking about.  IT assets increased over 10 percent during the time frame mentioned due to ETPL's investments in asset management and work estimations software in 2003.  


Now is my question difficult to understand?  


MR. SKEOCH:  There was investments made in that, yes.  


MR. SHEPHERD:  So how much was the cost of that?  


MR. SKEOCH:  I can't tell you off the top of my head. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  Just a ballpark.  


MR. SKEOCH:  Um... 


MR. SHEPHERD:  It was millions, right?  


MR. SKEOCH:  No.  


MR. SHEPHERD:  You said assets increased over 10 percent due to that one purchase.  


MR. SKEOCH:  Without seeing the documents, I suspect maybe we're talking about 10 percent of the additions for the year, maybe.  I don't have it in front of me.  


MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  Tell me about that system.  It's a work management system, right?  


MR. SKEOCH:  That would be the optimizer.  I believe what you're referring to is an asset management tool, and it's -- we didn't actually outright purchase it.  It would be in addition to our assets.  We're renting it, the use of it.  But it's considered a capital item because it has benefit over future periods.  


MR. SHEPHERD:  So it's on a capital lease?  


MR. SKEOCH:  I'm sorry.  We're renting the software.  The use of the software. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Martindale, this is a material item.  Do you recall is that a capital lease that we're talking about here?  


MR. MARTINDALE:  I would reserve my comments subject to looking at the statements again, but my memory tells me if it is the optimizer software it has been a capital item.  


MR. SHEPHERD:  And the purpose of this software is to reduce your operating costs in the long-term, right?  You manage your assets, you manage your work so that you reduce your maintenance costs, you reduce your repair costs, your outages by keeping a closer control over your assets, right?  


MR. WHITE:  Correct.  


MR. SHEPHERD:  So you've done presumably an analysis of whether it is working, or not, whether it is actually driving your costs down.  


MR. WHITE:  We haven't done an analysis yet, per se, no.  


MR. SHEPHERD:  So you don't know whether it's working?  


MR. WHITE:  We've only had it in use for the last three years.


MR. SHEPHERD:  But it's like a ten-year item.  Three years in you don't know whether it works yet?


All right.  Now, any savings that come from that, they're actually savings in services, right, because the costs that it is reducing are costs of services, right?


MR. WHITE:  Correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  On page 7 of your manager's summary, in 19(a) ‑‑ do you have that there?  Do you have your manager's summary there?


MR. STOLL:  Which date are you talking?


MR. SHEPHERD:  This one.  Sorry.


MR. STOLL:  There's been a lot of paperwork and it is not identified, Jay.  I'm not trying to be difficult.  I'm just trying to figure out where the document is.  I have four binders of paper that I have to go through.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Mine doesn't have an exhibit number.


MR. STOLL:  I know.  None of mine do.


MR. SHEPHERD:  It says, "Erie Thames Powerlines Corporation 2006 Distribution Rate Adjustment, Executive Summary," and then after that, Board Staff Interrogatories and Response -- sorry, this is "Board Staff Interrogatories and Responses, No. 19(a)."


Do you have that?


MR. SKEOCH:  Yes, we have the section you're referring to.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So I am trying to figure out what this means and it's a little bit, I guess, arcane, because it's driven by the Accounting Procedures Handbook of the Board.


But tell me whether this is correct, that your affiliates record separately their costs associated with the services they provide to you.  True?


MR. SKEOCH:  Correct.  Services ‑‑ the Services company incurs its costs and records it in its GL.


MR. SHEPHERD:  If it has costs that it has for third parties and for you, it records those separately, right?


MR. SKEOCH:  If they're direct costs related to that.  If it is a direct cost incurred for a customer, it goes to that spot.  If it's a direct cost incurred for Powerlines, it goes to that spot, yes.  There are certain costs that are shared.


MR. SHEPHERD:  That's right.  Then they're allocated by way of a ‑‑ by two different ways.  Costs ‑‑ your basic costs are paid on a formula, right?  You have a formula based on a per customer charge that doesn't have a relationship with the affiliates' costs.  It just is a per customer charge for Powerlines, right?


MR. SKEOCH:  Correct.  There is a per customer charge between the Services company and Powerlines.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And Powerlines doesn't ‑‑ there is no connection between the per customer charge and the costs of the affiliate, right?  The per customer charge isn't based on their costs?


MR. SKEOCH:  When it was developed in 1999 or 2000, it was based on the cost structure of the seven PUCs that came together.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.


MR. SKEOCH:  Since then, it's been a fixed rate per customer.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And it reduces by, what, around 1 percent or 2 percent a year, something like that?


MR. SKEOCH:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, do you know whether the affiliates' costs have reduced by more or less than that?


MR. SKEOCH:  I'm not sure I can make a ‑‑ if you're asking overall, I'm not sure.  I know that our rates have gone up 3 percent a year, so in that case, the answer is no.


MR. SHEPHERD:  No, but you amalgamated seven utilities, so presumably you have some economies of scale.  Wasn't it seven utilities you amalgamated?


MR. SKEOCH:  Seven PUCs.


MR. SHEPHERD:  There must have been some economies of scale, right, and that was the point?


MR. SKEOCH:  Yes.  That would be ‑- you would expect that when you amalgamate seven utilities, yes.


MR. PETTIT:  Just speaking to that point, in terms of ‑‑ when the utility was merged and seven former MEUs came together, there was also political constraints put on Erie Thames as a corporation, that we do not want to see lost jobs in our communities.  We want to see these people continue their employment, and then you had union issues around it.


We went to one union from a couple different wage structures, and they all went to the top wage structure in the negotiations.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Just tell me about these political constraints.


MR. PETTIT:  The shareholders wished to ensure that jobs were available for the people who were currently employed with each MEU.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Did this limit your ability to rationalize for efficiencies?


MR. PETTIT:  Absolutely, and that is why the Servco model was adopted, was to find work outside the realm of the utility for the staff.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And you've been fairly successful with that?


MR. PETTIT:  I believe so, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Do you have an idea of what percentage of the revenue of Services is from entities other than Powerlines?  I don't need the exact figure, I just need 

a ‑‑


MR. SKEOCH:  For what period?  Like, back in '04?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Now.


MR. STOLL:  For the Servco?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.


MR. SKEOCH:  Percentage of third party?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Percentage of revenue that is not from Powerlines.


MR. SKEOCH:  Probably half.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Half?


MR. SKEOCH:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Excellent.  Okay.


So has Servco's staff gone up substantially since amalgamation?


MR. SKEOCH:  Yes, it has probably doubled since the amalgamation.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So then as I understood what Mr. Pettit said, it was that because you couldn't get rid of staff because of political constraints, you did the logical thing, which is to say, We'll take the staff we have and we'll get more revenue out of them, and that way we'll be able to create efficiencies.  


But it sounds like you're saying you doubled revenue, but you doubled staff, too, so you didn't achieve that result; is that right?


MR. SKEOCH:  I didn't ask ‑‑ sorry.  We're not talking about doubling revenue.  You asked me what the split between third party and Powerlines is.  It is 50/50.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes, but ‑‑


MR. SKEOCH:  There is no question that at the very start, we had all of these employees and we went out and found business to keep them busy.


MR. SHEPHERD:  It's the smart thing to do.  Obviously you're not allowed to fire them.  You have to make them more efficient.


MR. SKEOCH:  The increase in people points out that we have generated more revenue to support that cost.


MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  Do you know what Servco revenue is relative to revenue when you started?  It has more than doubled, right?  


MR. SKEOCH:  Well, Servco didn't exist in the old model, in the PUC world, so it's gone from zero to what it is now.


MR. SHEPHERD:  No, but -- okay.


MR. SKEOCH:  The PUCs didn't do those types of ‑‑ that type of service that we do now.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Now, there's also other transactions with affiliates.  Sorry, let me back up a stage.


In addition to buying services from Servco, Powerlines also buys services from the parent company, right?  


MR. SKEOCH:  Correct.  


MR. SHEPHERD:  And that's primarily the executive team, and rent?  


MR. SKEOCH:  Corporate governance costs, board of directors' fees.  Depending on the period, there were three or four corporate executives.  Depending on the year.  And rent for a couple of buildings.  


MR. SHEPHERD:  You and Mr. White, for example, work for the parent company, right?  


MR. SKEOCH:  No.  Mr. White works for Powerlines.  


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes. 


MR. SKEOCH:  And I work for the Power Company. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, in answer to Board Staff 19(b), your second part of the answer relates to your per customer cost, and I am going to ask about that in a minute.  But the first part of your answer talks about capital services.  These, I take it, are not done on a per customer basis.  They're on a quote basis?  


MR. SKEOCH:  Correct. 


MR. WHITE:  Correct. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  But you don't take those out to bid.  Servco is a sole source?  


MR. WHITE:  No.  That's not true.  Capital expenses that do go out to affiliates or third parties outside of the affiliate.  


MR. SHEPHERD:  Do you know what percentage you're talking about that is arm's-length versus affiliate?  


MR. WHITE:  I would have to say about 5 percent.  


MR. SHEPHERD:  Is arm's-length?  


MR. WHITE:  Yes.  


MR. SHEPHERD:  And when Servco can do something, you sole-source them, right?  It's only when they don't have the capacity to do something that you go out to tender, right?  


MR. WHITE:  Sometimes we have the available resources but not the skill set, so we still go out.  


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes, okay.  Have you ever gone out to something on which Servco bid; that is, tendered something with Servco as one of the bidders?


MR. WHITE:  No.  


MR. SHEPHERD:  Then item C, answer C to number 19.  Your answer says, and I am quoting it here:

"Cost-based pricing is employed infrequently for transactions between the affiliate and ETPL..." 

the affiliate in this case being Servco, right?  


MR. WHITE:  Correct.  


MR. SHEPHERD:  So I take it, when they do a capital project, for example, you don't ask to see their costs or what profit margin they are getting out of that.  They just bid what they bid.  You just make an assessment of whether you think it is fair.  


MR. WHITE:  No, that's not true.  


MR. SHEPHERD:  Tell me how it works, then.  


MR. WHITE:  In the budget process, I am intimate with that process and I do the estimates myself.  


MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh, yes?  


MR. WHITE:  Yes.  


MR. SHEPHERD:  From their costs; you use their costs to do estimates of what you want?  


MR. WHITE:  Yes.  Their labour costs, their direct labour costs, yes.  


MR. SHEPHERD:  They have a two-stage markup.  They have a markup for overhead and they have a markup for profit?  


MR. WHITE:  Correct.  


MR. SHEPHERD:  What's the profit markup?  


MR. SKEOCH:  Maybe I could interject here.  The capital work under the MSA agreement is actually -- the services company is allowed to charge cost, which is considered to include fully burdened costs, plus 40 percent to cover other overheads.  


MR. SHEPHERD:  That's fully burdened cost, plus -- so what's the burden?  About 60 percent?  


MR. SKEOCH:  Well, I believe it was at the time frame you're talking about it was probably 40 percent.  


MR. SHEPHERD:  So on a typical project -- and I realize this isn't exact, but I am just trying to get a sense.  On a typical project, you take your labour, your actual labour costs your hard labour costs; that is compensation you pay to the employees, right?  You add 40 percent to get your fully burdened cost and you probably do that through a more complicated structure, but let's say you make it 140 percent of the actual labour costs.  


If you're paying an employee $40 an hour, then you increase that to $56 an hour, right?  And then you add 40 percent on top of that --  


MR. SKEOCH:  Correct. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  -- as the overhead component?  


MR. SKEOCH:  General overhead, yes. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  Overhead includes any profits?


MR. SKEOCH:  Yes. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  So this is a typical construction estimation structure?  This is how construction companies do estimating, right?  


MR. SKEOCH:  I would say so, yes.  


MR. SHEPHERD:  You said in answer to 19(f) that there is no provider of the same suite of services that Servco provides.  I guess I was a little surprised at that, because it sounds like most of what they do is pretty straightforward field operations, stuff that there is a number of companies that offer; isn't that right?  


Not all of it, not the full suite, but certainly big chunks of it are stuff that you could go out to bid on, couldn't you?  


MR. WHITE:  Within our service territory, no.  


MR. SHEPHERD:  Is part of the reason why you sole source Servco because your shareholders would not be happy if you went out to third parties and didn't use Servco for this work?  The same sort of political constraints Mr. Pettit was just talking about?  


MR. WHITE:  No, that's not the case.  


MR. SHEPHERD:  Then why wouldn't you go to any of the large construction or field operations outsourcing companies that exist in Ontario and say can you do it and see what they say?  


MR. WHITE:  We've tested the transfer pricing with our service affiliate on the construction services against some competitors, competition in the marketplace.  


MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh, that's good.  Okay.  You did a RFP?  


MR. WHITE:  No.  We had an independent audit done on that.  


MR. SHEPHERD:  When was that done?  


MR. WHITE:  2006.  


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Can you file that, then, please?  


MR. STOLL:  Is this just to verify the 2004 information, or to go beyond?  


MR. SHEPHERD:  No.  We're setting adjusted reasonable rates for 2006.  


MR. STOLL:  Right.  Based on 2004 costs, right?  


MR. SHEPHERD:  They're just and reasonable for 2006.  It doesn't matter how you base them.  


MR. STOLL:  It does matter how you base them.  


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So is this another refusal?  Just tell me.  


MR. WHITE:  I believe it is on file with the Board. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  Is it?  


MR. WHITE:  Yes.  


MR. SHEPHERD:  Is it a public file or is it -- 


MR. SKEOCH:  It's with the compliance office.  


MR. SHEPHERD:  So it is not a public file. 


MR. STOLL:  It would be confidential. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  Will you file it?  


MR. STOLL:  Under confidence.  


MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm happy.  


MR. MILLAR:  Just as a reminder to the parties, there is a protocol for filing confidential documents.  Mr. Stoll will probably be aware of it, but in order to file is something in confidence you would have to send a cover letter to the Board explaining why.  It is the Board that makes the final determination if something is confidential.  I don't necessarily think there would be a problem.  It's just a reminder to the parties.


MR. SHEPHERD:  We're agreeable to it being confidential. 


MR. MILLAR:  Just as long as that is understood.  


MR. STOLL:  Do you have much more?  


MR. SHEPHERD:  I have another 20 minutes, half an hour.  


MR. STOLL:  I'm just wondering, there is no water.  Is it a good time for a break? 


MR. SHEPHERD:  That's fine. 


MR. MILLAR:  Why don't we take ten minutes.  Is that enough?  


MR. STOLL:  25 to?  


MR. MILLAR:  Sure.  


--- Recess taken at 10:22 a.m. 


‑‑‑ Upon resuming at 10:37 a.m.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  We are back on.


FURTHER QUESTIONING BY MR. SHEPHERD:


MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  Let me turn to ‑‑ let me just ask a question.  What's your Board‑approved equity ratio?  Is it 50/50?


MR. PETTIT:  Yes, it is.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  But Erie Thames Powerlines is actually financed at a lower equity ratio than that, right?  You finance about two‑thirds/one‑third?  I'm just looking at the old statements.  It looks like you're about between 35 ‑‑ around 35 percent or 36 percent equity and the rest is debt.


That's not apples to apples.  I am just...


MR. SKEOCH:  I need to look at the statements.  That doesn't sound like the numbers I'm thinking of.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Have you filed -- other than with your triple Rs, have you filed your 2005 and 2006 audited financials?


MR. SKEOCH:  The 2006 audited statements have to be approved at the shareholders meeting next week and they will be filed after that.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And 2005 has been filed?


MR. PETTIT:  I believe there were no audited statements as at the interim decision, because we went through the same process.  So when the Board ordered us to do 2002 through 2004, we did 2005, as well.  It was the obvious next step to continue auditing from that day forward.


Then I filed in July, as the timeline states, and then I checked -- I wanted to make sure I had filed them with the Board.  I checked yesterday and, unfortunately, the 2005 is not there.  So on Monday morning when we're back at the office, those will be filed.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, those are confidential filings, right, because they're triple R?  You're not filing them in this case?


MR. PETTIT:  Pardon me, the 2005 audited financial statements, audited statements?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.


MR. PETTIT:  They're part of triple R.  They're not confidential.


MS. DOUGAN:  Those files that you're looking at, those are rates files.  Those are not the triple R audit files.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Triple R files are not available to the public, I don't think, are they? 


MR. DAVIS:  I believe the triple R filings are confidential.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So could you file your 2005 and 2006 audited financials in this case?  2006 will be approved next week, so after it's approved, and 2005 when you file it with triple R, can you file it, too?


MR. STOLL:  I am not sure 2006 can be fully done, because the meeting is not until the end of the week.  So I'm not sure it will happen and be able to be produced before the motion on Friday.


MR. SHEPHERD:  That's fine.  Well, when is the meeting?


MR. WHITE:  Thursday.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So bring it with you.  That's fine.  Okay?  Can we get an undertaking number for that?


MR. MILLAR:  Undertaking .1.


UNDERTAKING NO. 1:  TO PROVIDE 2005 AND 2006 


AUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR ERIE THAMES 


POWERLINES.

 MR. MILLAR:  Sorry, Mr. Shepherd, can you restate the undertaking?


MR. SHEPHERD:  2005 and 2006 audited financial statements.  These would be of the parent, right, or do you have them now for the ‑‑


MR. SKEOCH:  We have them available for the Powerlines.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So Powerlines would be good, yes.  I didn't realize you had them for the Powerlines.  That's good.


What percentage of the distribution expenses of Powerlines is currently being paid to affiliates?  Can you tell me?


MR. WHITE:  Can you repeat that, please?


MR. SHEPHERD:  What percentage of the distribution expenses of Powerlines is being paid to affiliates?  I'm assuming it is around like 90 percent; is that right?


MR. WHITE:  Yes, about 90 percent.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And out of your rate base, what part of your rate base is owned by the utility and what part of your rate base is owned by the parent?  Just rough percentages.


MR. SKEOCH:  My understanding is the rate base is all in Powerlines.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So the assets that are used by the utility that are owned in the parent are rented?


MR. SKEOCH:  Correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And so none of that is included as capital?


MR. SKEOCH:  No.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And are there assets owned by services that are used by Powerlines?


MR. SKEOCH:  Yes.  The vehicles are owned by Services.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Again, they're rented?


MR. SKEOCH:  Correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  You have ‑‑ I'm just going to see if I can find the reference and make it easier.


There was a chart.  Hang on.  Sorry, just give me one second, please.


Somewhere in here there's a summary of your payments to affiliates each year, from one year to the next.  I'll just try to find it.


This is appendix C to your interrogatory responses from School Energy Coalition.  Do you have that?


MR. SKEOCH:  Appendix C?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Appendix C.  It is a chart of payments to affiliates.  It says "Appendix C", and it is question 4(a).


MR. STOLL:  Is this the second round of interrogatories or first round, Jay?  It is one of the difficulties just in trying to track the paper.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I think it is the second round.  Yes, it's the second round.


MR. SKEOCH:  We have it.  We've got the schedule.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Do you have that?  Okay.  So from 2003 to 2004, there was a big jump in the operating costs paid by Powerlines to Servco and parent.  Part of it was in management services, part of it was in OM&A, but if you look at this chart, you will see that the ‑‑ just take a look at 2004.  You've got capital projects, which is the first line.  Ignore that.  Everything else goes in your distribution expenses, right?


MR. SKEOCH:  Correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So the portion that goes in the distribution expenses, by our calculation, went up almost 30 percent from 2003 to 2004.  Can you tell us why that happened?


MR. SKEOCH:  Generally speaking, there was a lot of costs during that time frame that were new to the utility industry, were still going through the after math of the market opening, new regulations, new regulatory requirements, those types of things.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I thought that your OM&A payments to Servco were based on a per customer cost.  So your customers didn't jump.  They jumped like 2 percent.  So I don't know why you would have a $600,000 increase in your payment.  That's just what ‑‑ I'm trying to understand it. 


MR. SKEOCH:  The OM&A or the MSA agreement, there is a fixed cost component and that was based on the cost structure at 1999.  And then since 1999, the utilities are incurring a lot of costs that were never contemplated in '99.  The market settlement process was new.  There's a whole bunch of things that never existed in the old PUC world.  


So the MSA that was set on a per customer rate didn't consider all of those costs.  


MR. SHEPHERD:  So these things are considered out of scope for the fixed cost?  


MR. SKEOCH:  Right.  So there would be additional charges agreed on by both parties for costs that weren't contemplated back in '99.  


MR. SHEPHERD:  How do you do that?  How do you agree on those additional costs?  


MR. SKEOCH:  The services company pays for most of the expenses.  So if we have to pay settlement costs, wholesale settlement costs, it would have been -- the amount would have been determined.  The contract price would have went to the Powerlines company and said this is a cost that wasn't contemplated and it would be negotiated whether they agreed with that or not.  


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Now, there's a big jump in management services.  Do you know what's that all about?  It almost doubles.  


MR. SKEOCH:  I would have to check back to the records, but I believe in that time frame there was a -- one of the corporate executives - this is from Power Co. - there was an additional corporate executive and executive assistant hired in that time frame.  An HR person, and EA, I believe, was additional.  


MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  


MR. SKEOCH:  I would have to go back.  I don't know whether the board fees changed in that time frame. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  That's of course my next question.  You know, there's been a controversy about how much politicians are paid to sit on LDC boards.  So what is the fee for politicians who sit on your board?  How much do they get paid?


MR. STOLL:  Which board are we talking about, Jay?  


MR. SHEPHERD:  Powerlines. 


MR. SKEOCH:  Powerlines board?  You're testing my memory.  Off the top, I can't... I'm having trouble with my memory.  


[Witness panel confers]


MR. SKEOCH:  You're talking about fees paid to the board members?  


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.  


MR. SKEOCH:  The board of directors?  


MR. SHEPHERD:  Can you undertake to provide that?  Obviously the directors who sit on Powerlines board presumably sit on Power Corp.'s board too, right?  They sit on both.  So can I find out what they're paid for each?  


MR. MILLAR:  Assuming that's a yes, it is .2.  


UNDERTAKING NO. JT2:  TO PROVIDE COMPENSATION FOR 
DIRECTORS, EXTENDING TO 2005 AND 2006


MR. SHEPHERD:  Then the last thing with respect to Appendix C is, can you give us, can you extend that to 2005 and 2006, so we could see the same numbers for 2005 and 2006?  


MR. SKEOCH:  Sure.  


MR. SHEPHERD:  Then I am looking at Schedule B to your, what you're calling the MSA, all right?  Schedule B is the monthly charges.  


Do you have that?  


MR. PETTIT:  Yes.  


MR. SHEPHERD:  So this goes from 2001 to 2003.  This is the original Schedule B, I guess, right?  


MR. PETTIT:  Correct.  


MR. SHEPHERD:  Presumably you have an update of that that takes you up to 2007?  


MR. PETTIT:  I believe we do, yes.  


MR. SHEPHERD:  Can you file that?  


MR. PETTIT:  Yes.  


MR. MILLAR:  Three.  


UNDERTAKING NO. JT3:  TO PROVIDE A 2007 UPDATE TO 


SCHEDULE B


MR. SHEPHERD:  And that's -- I assume that what that's going to say is that the charge per customer keeps on going down, right?  


MR. WHITE:  We will have to look at that. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  You're not sure?  


MR. PETTIT:  We did, again, -- I can speak to 2001, 2002, 2003, when the rates froze and I forget the exact year, was it 2002 we froze rates?  


MR. SKEOCH:  The provincial government froze the rates. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  I know.  


MR. PETTIT:  So the decline stopped and then started up again when the rates were unfrozen. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  So starting in 2005 you started to increase?  Or 2004?  


MR. STOLL:  I would have to check.  


MR. SHEPHERD:  Third tranche came in in 2005.  That's when you were effectively unfrozen. 


MR. PETTIT:  I think actually we did the year before because we did a rate proceeding in '04 as well.  It was very simple but in that rate proceeding I believe we started the downtake again.  


MR. SHEPHERD:  And how were the new rates set?  Was there some negotiation between you and Servco?  


MR. WHITE:  I was not in charge at that given time, so I -- John can speak to that.  


MR. SHEPHERD:  Does anybody know?  


MR. SKEOCH:  I think we'll find that the per customer rate is flat after a certain period of time, but again, we will give you the schedule and -- 


MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. White, you know what it is for 2007, right?  


MR. WHITE:  Hmm?  


MR. SHEPHERD:  Per customer rate. 


MR. WHITE:  Hmm-hmm. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  What is it for 2007?


MR. WHITE:  I believe it is consistent with the Schedule B that we have before us. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  So it's $7.61?  


MR. WHITE:  Hmm-hmm. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  Because Mr. Pettit just said there were increases after 2003, so that is why I am asking.  


MR. PETTIT:  I never said there were increases after 2003.  I did say we froze it when the rates froze and then we started the decline again after the rates -- after we were doing the rate proceedings again.  


MR. SHEPHERD:  The decline?  


MR. PETTIT:  It goes from 7.92 in '01 to 7.76, to 7.61.  


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.  And then -- 


MR. PETTIT:  Then nothing.  No change. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  Then it is flat after that?  Okay.  


What's the current rate of interest on the debt you have to the municipalities?  


MR. SKEOCH:  7-1/4 percent.  


MR. SHEPHERD:  Do you have any bank debt?  


MR. SKEOCH:  The holding company, Power Corp., has 

the -- a line of credit. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  Line of credit?  


MR. SKEOCH:  Yes. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  With what bank?  


MR. SKEOCH:  TD Canada Trust. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  What is your current rate of interest on that?  


MR. SKEOCH:  We're paying TD prime.  


MR. SHEPHERD:  So that currently would be about 4.85, something like that?  


MR. SKEOCH:  Around the five, yes.  


MR. SHEPHERD:  Have you sought to adjust the interest rate that you pay the municipalities?  


MR. SKEOCH:  No.  


MR. SHEPHERD:  You reduced it in 2003.  How did that come about?  It went from 8.5 down to 7.25.  


MR. SKEOCH:  That was -- 


MR. PETTIT:  I think I can speak to that.  


MR. SKEOCH:  Sure.  


MR. PETTIT:  The original intent when the seven municipalities were merged was that, This is your portion of the debt; you have one share, one vote; you will be paid interest payments based on what assets you bring to the corporation.  


We anticipated 7.25 percent to be -- that was what we were going to pay to our shareholder.  In the first year, I believe, we ended up paying less than 7.25 percent, because of the phasing-in of market-based rate of return.  So we said to our shareholders, Look, we're not going to be able to support 7.25 percent at this time.  We will adjust --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Ah.


MR. PETTIT:  So we paid 6.25, then the 8, and then 

we ‑‑ now we're whole.  We paid you what we owed you, as per the agreement, and then we're back to 7.25.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So it wasn't a question of dropping the rate in 2003.  It was a question of getting back to the right rate after a couple of years where it was ‑‑ it varied?


MR. PETTIT:  Right.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay, I got it.


And now you're on the cost of service list for this year, right?  Did you request that, or was that the Board's decision?  Did you self-nominate?


MR. STOLL:  No, they didn't.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Just two other clean‑up things, I think.  This was -- somewhere in this filing is an independent audit opinion that you prepared, I think, Mr. Martindale, saying that you -- in your opinion the rate filing was just and reasonable.  Do you recall that?


MR. MARTINDALE:  I do not recall that.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Let me just see if I can find it, then.


I can't find it.  I know I saw it last night.  This was a document headed up "Special Audit Report".  It was on your letterhead with respect to the rate filing.  Do you recall this at all?


MR. MARTINDALE:  It's a bit foggy, but if I have an opportunity to see it, I could make some comments.


If my firm or I put something on letterhead testifying or assuring something, I would be willing to stand behind it, of course.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I can't find it.  Well, I guess I will have to skip that one.


Those are all of my questions.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Thank you, Mr. Shepherd.  Thank you, Erie Thames.  


[Witness panel withdrew]


I guess we're done for today, unless, Mr. Stoll, you have anything else?


MR. STOLL:  No.


MR. MILLAR:  Then I guess we will see everyone Friday.


MR. STOLL:  Great.


‑‑‑ Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 11:03 a.m.
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